FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/13/2020 4:37 PM

# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/14/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98415-8 Court of Appeals No. 78304-1-I

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### CITY OF SEATTLE,

Petitioner,

VS.

# JEFFREY LEVESQUE,

Respondent.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

\_\_\_\_\_

# PETER S. HOLMES SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY

Miriam Norman Assistant City Attorney Attorney for Petitioner WSBA #40624

Seattle Law Department 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2050 Seattle, Washington 98104-7090 Telephone (206) 684-7757

#

## B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant, Levesque, was charged and convicted in Seattle Municipal Court with driving under the influence of drugs after a jury trial. In ruling on Levesque's motions in limine, the trial court allowed officers to testify, "...based on the totality of circumstances that the defendant was impaired." RP II at 33-34.

The evidence at trial was that Seattle Police Officers Hinson and Coe arrested Mr. Levesque for DUI on April 29, 2015. Both officers testified they had training and experience in detecting impaired drivers, in identifying drug impairment, and engaging with individuals under the influence of certain drug categories, including stimulants. RP IV at 51, 22, 37-39, 41; RP III at 61. Officer Hinson testified that his training and experience included more than 40 hours of DUI specific training, focusing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Report of Proceeding Volume II is October 18, 2016, First Day of Trial. Report of Proceeding Volume III is October 19, 2016, Second Day of Trial. Report of Proceeding Volume IV is October 20, 2016, Third Day of Trial.

on alcohol and drugs; through daily contacts with individuals, he learned to recognize the signs of possible impairment and physical manifestations of driving impaired. RP III 22-24. He has arrested DUI-drug impaired individuals, he is familiar with drugs and those corresponding drug effects on the human body, and his training and experience taught him that a stimulant would cause certain observable effects. *Id*.

Officers observed that Levesque caused a crash, seemed confused as to how the crash occurred, and could not locate this phone despite it being obviously present. RP III at 42, 88. Hinson observed that Levesque had flushed skin, high body temperature, fidgetiness, and never stopped moving. RP III at 42. Hinson also observed small red plastic caps in the vehicle that were consistent with syringe caps. Levesque displayed an altered state of mind, mood swings, and was argumentative. RP III at 43, 42. In addition, he was crying, had poor coordination, and continued sweating in the back of the patrol vehicle. RP III at 71, 42. This led Officer Hinson to believe that Levesque was under the influence of a stimulant. RP III at 41. Officer Hinson testified that his opinion was that Levesque "was definitely impaired at the time of the accident." RP III at 51. Levesque did not object when the officer's opinion was given. *Id*.

Officer Coe observed Levesque was very shaky and sweaty, even though it was windy and cold, and he was wearing a tank top and shorts.

RP III at 88. Levesque never objected to her testimony. RP III 86-105.

Levesque never objected to Seattle Fire Department Captain Franks' expert testimony that Levesque's heart rate, respiratory, and blood pressure were all a bit "up." RP III at 139. Levesque denied that he had been in a collision, which Captain Franks found odd. RP III at 144, 140. Captain Franks testified he observed that Levesque had an altered state of consciousness, was not making sense in his conversation, his motor skills were impacted, he could not open a car door, and conversation was very erratic. RP III at 140, 142. His report concluded, "Patient showing behavior consistent with recreational drug use." RP III at 144.

Levesque objected to foundation and relevance during forensic toxicologist Andrew Gingras's expert testimony about toxicology and methamphetamine but most substantive testimony came in with no objection.<sup>2</sup> Gingras testified about extensive training, education, and experience that qualifies him as a forensic toxicologist. RP IV at 17-18. Gingras testified that he analyzed Levesque's blood and found a high toxic level of methamphetamine and amphetamine. RP IV at 26, 7, 17-18. Gingras explained that methamphetamine is a central nervous system (CNS) stimulant, and someone under the influence of it would exhibit risky behavior, rapid flight of ideas, excitement of the body and motor

function (more body activity), constant movement, inability to focus on one thing for a prolonged period, rapid shifts in focus, fast speech, confusion, increased body temperature and sweating, and an inability to safely drive. RP IV at 19, 19-24. All levels of methamphetamine could impair, and Levesque had toxic levels of methamphetamine in his system. RP IV at 29, 26. Levesque did have his physician testify that, after the crash, he was diagnosed with post-concussive syndrome and given medications (amitriptyline) for that syndrome that might cause slowness, headaches, disorientation. RP IV at 58. She testified that he might have had shock at the time of crash as well which would cause low blood pressure, fear, sweating, rapid heart rate, speech issues. RP IV at 53. She also described symptoms of methamphetamine use: wakefulness, alertness, attentiveness, increased pleasure, hallucinations, mental and motor impairment. RP IV at 59.

Levesque lodged an objection to Officer's Hinson's testimony only after Hinson, Coe, and another witness finished testifying. RP III at 105. The Court of Appeals reversed Levesque's conviction.

# D. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) permits review by this Court where a decision by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Levesque objected to foundation RP IV at 18, foundation at 26, asked & answered at 26, relevance at 26.

Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court is in conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals or of the Supreme Court, raises a significant question of law under the Washington State or United States Constitution, or deals with an issue of substantial public interest. These criteria are met here. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals decision limiting relevant opinion testimony impacts a vast majority of all DUI prosecutions. Review should be granted as Division I's opinion conflicts with appellate cases on ER 103. Finally, review is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Division I opinion conflicts with *Baity*, *Heatley*, and *Montgomery*.

# 1. The City's Petition for Review Should be Granted as the Issues Presented are of Substantial Public Interest

The breadth of the *Levesque* decision presents an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Division I held that only a DRE or an officer with similar extensive training may testify that impairment arose from a specific drug category. *City of Seattle v. Levesque*, No. 78304-1-I (March 16, 2020). The *Levesque* decision will impact nearly all DUI-Drug cases. Impaired driving is one of the leading contributors to highway deaths and major injuries. *See* Washington State Department of Transportation, *Washington State Strategic Highway Safety* 

*Plan 2019*, at 3,7-20 (February 2020).<sup>3</sup> Despite years of efforts to reduce the number of impaired-driver fatalities, impaired driving is still a factor in half of all traffic deaths in Washington. *See* Marijuana Use, Alcohol Use, and Driving in Washington State at 1 (April 2018).<sup>4</sup>

The caseloads of the Courts of Washington indicates that between January 1, 2020 to March 31, 2020, 4,617 DUI cases were filed in Washington, despite the slow-down of filings both due to the WSP State Toxicology backlog, prosecutorial reluctance to file cases without blood results, the COVID-19 response, and the slowdown in proactive policing.<sup>5</sup> In 2019, 29,218 DUI cases were filed in courts of limited jurisdiction, up from every year preceding it.<sup>6</sup> These cases were distributed among all 150 courts of limited jurisdiction.<sup>7</sup>

Since 2008, 62% of all fatal crashes involved a driver who had at least one drug, in addition to any presence of alcohol, in their systems. *See* 

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This document may be found at http://targetzero.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/TargetZero2019\_Overview\_Lo-Res.pdf (last visited April 6, 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Available at http://wtsc.wa.gov/wp-content/uploads/dlm\_uploads/2018/05/Marijuana-and-Alcohol-Involvement-in-Fatal-Crashes-in-WA\_FINAL.pdf (last visited April 6, 2020). -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The year to date report is available at https://www.courts.wa.gov/caseload/?fa=caseload.showReport&level=d&freq=y&tab=& fileID=rpt01 (last visited April 6, 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Caseloads of the Courts DUI/Physical Control Activity 2015-2019;l available at: https://www.courts.wa.gov/caseload/?fa=caseload.showReport&level=d&freq=a&tab=St atewide&fileID=trend05 (last visited April 6, 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Washington Courts, Washington State Court Directory (2020); RCW 3.64.010 (providing for the 122 district court judges). DUIs in Superior Court will also be impacted by this ruling.

Marijuana Use, Alcohol Use, and Driving in Washington State at 13 (April 2018).<sup>8</sup> Alcohol-only impairment accounted for only 38% of all fatal crashes, whereas 62% of all fatal crashes involved at least one drug in addition to alcohol. *Id.* Extrapolating this data to DUI arrests, indicates that the *Levesque* opinion limiting relevant opinion testimony would apply to approximately 18,000 of the DUI cases filed in 2019. In Washington State, there are approximately 11,411 sworn police officers, but only 187 certified DREs.<sup>9</sup> Thus, on average, there are fewer than one DRE per law enforcement agency.<sup>10</sup> It is not possible to only have DREs investigate and testify in every single DUI-drug case.

On any given day, multiple DUI cases are set for trial, and most of them will involve officer opinion testimony on whether the defendant was impaired by drugs. Exclusion of this opinion evidence, except when a DRE is testifying, will unreasonably constrain the presentation of reliable

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Available at http://wtsc.wa.gov/wp-content/uploads/dlm\_uploads/2018/05/Marijuana-and-Alcohol-Involvement-in-Fatal-Crashes-in-WA\_FINAL.pdf (last visited April 6, 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See Census of State and Local Law Enforcement Agencies, U.S. Department of Justice Office of Justice Programs Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2008 report by Brian A. Reaves, Ph.D., BJS Statistician at 15; Available at:

https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/csllea08.pdf (last visited April 6, 2020); *See* 2018 Annual Report of the IACP Drug Evaluation & Classification Program at 13; Available at: https://www.ghsa.org/sites/default/files/2019-

<sup>10/2018% 20</sup>DECP% 20Annual% 20Report.pdf (last visited April 6, 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> There are 260 law enforcement agencies in Washington State . *Census of State and Local Law Enforcement Agencies*, U.S. Department of Justice Office of Justice Programs Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2008 report by Brian A. Reaves, Ph.D., BJS Statistician at 15; Available at: https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/csllea08.pdf (last visited April 6, 2020).

evidence and unnecessarily reduce both conviction rates and the deterrent effect of DUI laws. Division I's opinion, if left undisturbed, will significantly impact the public's interest in safe highways.

# 2. <u>Division I's Interpretation of ER 103(a) Conflicts with Several Appellate Decisions in Washington</u>

It is well settled that Defendant's failure to object to opinion testimony in trial, as required by ER 103(a), precludes consideration of arguments on appeal. Levesque never objected to Hinson's opinion testimony. Levesque failed to identify and argue this issue before any lower court and raised the issue for the first time at the Court of Appeals.

Generally, appellate courts will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal.<sup>13</sup> But, under RAP 2.5(a)(3), a claim of error may be raised for the first time on appeal if it is a manifest constitutional error.<sup>14</sup> The defendant must identify the constitutional error and show how it actually affected his rights at trial.<sup>15</sup> It is this showing of actual prejudice that makes the error "manifest."<sup>16</sup> Although Levesque never established actual prejudice, Division I still considered his claims on the merits.<sup>17</sup>

Levesque fails to show how Hinson's testimony adversely affected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> State v. Perez-Cervantes, 141 Wn.2d 468, 482, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> RP III at 106-108.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> RAP 2.5(a); State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 926, 155 P.3d 125.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> *Id.* at 926–27, 155 P.3d 125.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> *Id.* at 927, 155 P.3d 125.

his rights at trial. Other witnesses and experts, including Officer Coe, Captain Franks, and Forensic Scientist Andrew Gingras, testified without objection that Levesque's behavior was consistent with an "upper," was consistent with methamphetamine intoxication and that he had a toxic level of methamphetamine in his blood, and was consistent with recreational drug use. Hinson's testimony corroborated and was cumulative to this testimony. While Officer Hinson's opinion of Leveque's impairment by a CNS Stimulant supported the City's theory of guilt, Levesque fails to establish actual prejudice considering properly admitted testimony. There is no manifest constitutional error.

A majority of the courts that have considered the question, require a defendant to object at trial, despite a granted motion in limine, to preserve the claimed error.<sup>21</sup> Any error is committed, not at the time of the ruling, but only when the evidence is improperly admitted over objection at trial.<sup>22</sup> While the admissibility of some types of evidence may be determined before trial, most evidence problems are best resolved in the

<sup>17</sup> See RAP 10.3(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> RP III at 88.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> RP IV at 19-24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> RP III at 144.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See Gamble, The Motion in Limine: A Pretrial Procedure That Has Come of Age, 33 Alabama L.Rev. 1, 16 (1981).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> State v. Austin, 34 Wn. App. 625, 627, 662 P.2d 872, 874 (1983), aff'd sub nom. State v. Koloske, 100 Wn.2d 889, 676 P.2d 456 (1984).

atmosphere and context of the trial.<sup>23</sup> In many instances, the determination of a matter's admissibility cannot be made before the point in the trial when its relationship to the theory of the case and to the other evidence becomes apparent.<sup>24</sup> If a court grants a motion to exclude, but then at trial admits the evidence in violation of its own order, dictum in two cases from the 1970's suggests that the opposing party need not object again.<sup>25</sup> However, more modern opinions reject this dictum and hold that the party that prevails on a motion in limine has a duty to object at trial.<sup>26</sup>

Levesque had a duty to object at the time of the perceived error. The granting of a motion in limine to preclude officers as experts was not specific enough to alert which opinion of Hinson's was alleged to be error. A general objection is insufficient and may cause the objecting party to be penalized on appeal.<sup>27</sup> Levesque's objection based on lack of foundation was non-specific and does not preserve error related to opinion testimony.<sup>28</sup> Additionally, as the Court of Appeals noted, there is great potential for abuse when a party does not object because "[a] party so

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> *Id* at 627-28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Gamble, *supra* at 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See Fenimore v. Donald M. Drake Construction Co., 87 Wn.2d 85, 549 P.2d 483 (1976); State v. Brooks, 20 Wn. App. 52, 60, 579 P.2d 961 (1978).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See, e.g., A.C. ex rel. Cooper v. Bellingham School Dist., 125 Wn. App. 511, 105 P.3d 400 (2004); City of Bellevue v. Kravik, 69 Wn. App. 735, 850 P.2d 559 (1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Karl B. Tegland, *Washington Practice*, *Courtroom Handbook on Washington Evidence* 111 (2018-2019 ed. 2018)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> State v. Hubbard, 37 Wn. App. 137, 679 P.2d 391 (1984), rev'd on other grounds, 103 Wn.2d 570, 693 P.2d 718 (1985).

situated could simply lie back, not allowing the trial court to avoid the potential prejudice, gamble on the verdict, and then seek a new trial on appeal."<sup>29</sup> In *Weber*, this Court addressed this very issue and held:

We follow the commonsense approach of the Court of Appeals ... Without an objection, the trial court never had an opportunity to determine whether the evidence would even have been covered by the pretrial motions, or if it was covered by the motions, whether the court could have cured any potential prejudice through an instruction. Thus, ... the complaining party should object to the admission of the allegedly inadmissible evidence in order to preserve the issue for review....<sup>30</sup>

In this case, any prejudice could easily have been avoided by a timely objection, which would trigger the trial court to determine whether, based on his testimony, Officer Hinson was qualified to render an opinion. Instead, like *Weber*, Levesque simply gambled on the verdict and did not object. Levesque had a duty to object to attempt to correct the error. He failed to object, move to strike, request a curative instruction, move for a mistrial, and/or fail to request a new trial. Having done none of these things, it appears he chose to gamble on a verdict. By nevertheless considering Levesque's unpreserved evidentiary claim, Division I's opinion conflicts with case law and encourages defendants to withhold timely objections during trial when the Court could obviate any prejudice.

#### 3. Division I's Holding that Only a DRE May Provide an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> State v. Sullivan, 69 Wn. App. 167, 172, 847 P.2d 953 (1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> State v. Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252, 271–72, 149 P.3d 646 (2006) (emphasis added); the unusual circumstances mentioned in Weber did not apply here.

# Opinion in Drug-DUI Cases and Limiting Relevant Opinion Testimony Conflicts with Several Appellate Decisions in Washington

Expert and lay opinion testimony on drug impairment existed long before the DRE program. In *Pirtle*, this Court held that defense experts may properly discuss and form opinions on drug impairment without any reliance on or reference to the drug recognition evaluation.<sup>31</sup> Officer testimony about drug impairment has been admitted as relevant evidence to witness credibility; the *Russell* Court observed that it is well settled that impairment by a drug goes to a person's credibility.<sup>32</sup> Drug impairment opinion testimony preexisted *Baity* and was admitted if ER 702<sup>33</sup> was met.

The drug-based means of committing DUI pre-dates Washington's DRE program. DUI was first codified at RCW 46.61.502 in 1979; at that time and earlier, Washington statutes defined DUI of any drug to be a crime.<sup>34</sup> In 1995, the legislature amended RCW 46.20.308(2) to allow an officer to acquire a blood test of any driver that an officer believed was under the influence of a drug.<sup>35</sup> Yet Washington did not begin its DRE program until 1997 and it was operating in only five counties by late

<sup>31</sup> State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 658, 904 P.2d 245 (1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 83, 882 P.2d 747, 783–84 (1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>"... a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." ER 702

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Laws of 1979, 1st Ex.Sess., ch. 176, § 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Laws of 1995, ch. 332, §§ 1; 19; 24.

1999.<sup>36</sup> Washington Courts have upheld convictions and testimony for DUI-drugs for decades without requiring officers to have the same training as DREs. A DRE evaluation is to determine the precise category of drug ingested and whether the suspect is impaired by that drug category.<sup>37</sup>

State v. Baity established standards for the admissibility at trial of novel scientific and expert opinion testimony based on the 12-step DRE process.<sup>38</sup> Baity did not eliminate or render the opinion evidence rules nullities. Instead it simply applied the evidence rules to a fact set involving a DRE.<sup>39</sup> Baity does not hold only DREs may express an opinion of drug impairment. The Baity Court could have announced this rule but did not.

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