FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/12/2020 4:00 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98415-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Petitioner,

v.

JEFFREY LEVESQUE,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Whitney H. Sichel, WSBA No. 44474 Attorney for Respondent

The Defender Association Division
King County Department of Public Defense
710 Second Avenue, Suite 700
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 477-8700, ext. 78719
Whitney.Sichel@kingcounty.gov

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

F. ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals properly analyzed Officer Hinson's testimony under ER 702 and *State v. Baity* and correctly concluded that he was not qualified to offer an opinion as to what specific drug category Mr. Levesque was impaired by, as Officer Hinson was not a Drug Recognition Expert or otherwise qualified to offer such an opinion.

-

⁴ The City incorrectly states that Dr. Mayer treated Mr. Levesque for post-concussive syndrome following the car accident that occurred in this case. Petition for Review at 5. As indicated above, Dr. Mayer had diagnosed Mr. Levesque with post-concussive syndrome after a car accident that occurred in March of 2015, approximately one month *prior to* his arrest in this case.

The City argues that the Court of Appeals "misinterpreted *Baity* ... by holding that no officer may opine on the defendant's impairment without extensive DRE training." Petition for Review at 15. Relatedly, the City argues that the Court of Appeals failed to apply ER 702. *Id*.

The City misrepresents the Court of Appeals' holding. The Court of Appeals did in fact evaluate Officer Hinson's testimony under ER 702, and properly concluded that Officer Hinson was not qualified under the rule to testify as an expert on impairment by a specific category of drugs. Levesque, Slip Opinion at 12. The Court discussed State v. Baity as "instructive in this regard" because, although the primary issue in *Baity* was whether the DRE protocol satisfied the *Frye* standard generally, it also found that "the evidence does have a scientific aspect, which tends to cast a scientific aura about the DRE's testimony." Levesque at 12-13; see also State v. Baity, 140 Wash.2d 1, 11, 991 P.2d 1151 (2000). The Court in Baity outlined the extensive training that DREs receive, the exacting standards they must meet before becoming certified, and the 12-step procedure that they must follow in every case before offering an opinion as to impairment by a specific category of drugs. Baity, 140 Wash. 2d at 4-6. Baity also recognized that a DRE must still and present a proper foundation to qualify as an expert under ER 702, which would include "a description of the DRE's training, education, and experience in

administering the test, together with a showing that the test was properly administered." Id. at 18. The Court of Appeals in Levesque reaffirmed Baity's holding that a certified DRE officer, after performing the 12-step DRE protocol, may give an opinion as to whether a DUI defendant's behavior is consistent with impairment by a specific category of drug. Levesque at 14; Baity, 140 Wash.2d at 18. Importantly, however, the Court of Appeals recognized that there may be "other sufficient foundation testimony" under ER 702 that would similarly qualify a witness to offer such an opinion, explicitly noting that "not every expert presenting an opinion on the issue must be DRE certified." Levesque at 14-15. Contrary to the City's assertion, the Court of Appeals properly applied ER 702 to Officer Hinson's testimony, ultimately concluding that his lack of DRE certification *combined with* his minimal police experience did sufficiently qualify him to offer an opinion as to whether Mr. Levesque's behavior was consistent with a particular category of drugs. Levesque at 15.

The City argues that, even if Officer Hinson was not qualified to testify as to the specific category of drug Mr. Levesque had ingested, that he should still be permitted to testify to an opinion that Mr. Levesque was impaired by drugs generally. Petition for Review at 14. Nothing in the Court of Appeals' decision prevents Officer Hinson from doing exactly that. Indeed, the Court clearly stated that even Officer Hinson's limited

DUI experience "may provide a basis for testimony that a person shows signs and symptoms consistent with drug or alcohol consumption generally." *Levesque* at 14. In this case, however, Officer Hinson did not limit his statements to such general opinion testimony.

The City finally argues that Officer Hinson's testimony was admissible as lay testimony under *City of Seattle v. Heatley* and *State v. Lewellyn*. This argument was addressed and correctly rejected by the Court of Appeals. The City asserts, without authority, that Officer Hinson's testimony was lay testimony because "CNS Stimulants are very common drugs to encounter regularly ... and the effects of stimulants are more obvious than other drug categories." Petition for Review at 17. However, as the Court of Appeals and *Baity* both recognized, discerning which particular class of drug an individual's behavior is consistent with is a sophisticated and technical matter that is not within the realm of a layperson's experience. *Baity* at 4, 5, 11; *see also Levesque* at 15, 17. Simply put, it involves "scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge within the scope of rule 702." ER 701(a), (c).

As the Court of Appeals noted, this type of specialized knowledge is distinguishable from lay testimony regarding alcohol intoxication. In *Heatley*, Division I considered an officer's opinion testimony regarding alcohol intoxication in a DUI case. *City of Seattle v. Heatley*, 70 Wash.App.

573, 854 P.2d 658 (1993). The Court held that, provided an adequate foundation was established (e.g. experience, direct observations, and field sobriety tests), an officer could properly provide an opinion as to alcohol intoxication. The Court held that this was proper lay witness testimony because "the effects of alcohol are commonly known and all persons can be presumed to draw reasonable inferences therefrom" and "the subject matter of [the officer's] opinion—intoxication and impairment by alcohol—did not encompass excessively technical matters." *Id.* at 580 (emphasis added). In *Levesque*, the Court of Appeals noted this "important" distinction and found that because Officer Hinson's opinion testimony involved a technical and scientific matter—impairment by a specific category of drugs, as opposed to alcohol—*Heatley* and *Lewellyn* did not control. *Levesque* at 19.6

2. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that, pursuant to *State v. Quaale*, Officer Hinson's testimony that Mr. Levesque was "definitely impaired" by a stimulant was an improper opinion on Mr. Levesque's guilt, as that opinion was not "otherwise admissible" under ER 704.

-

⁵ *State v. Lewellyn* reaffirmed *Heatley*'s holding regarding lay opinion of alcohol intoxication. 78 Wash. App. 788, 895 P.2d 418 (1995).

⁶ The City also cites *State v. Pirtle* and *State v. Russell* in support of its arguments. In *Pirtle*, a defense expert discussed drug and alcohol intoxication as it related to the defendant's diminished capacity defense in a murder trial. The expert's qualifications were not challenged on appeal. 127 Wash.2d 628, 904 P.2d 245 (1995). *Russell* held only that a witness may be cross-examined about their own alcohol or drug use on the night of the incident they witnessed. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wash.2d 24, 83, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). Nothing about *Pirtle* or *Russell* is contrary to the Court's decision in *Levesque*.

The City argues that Officer Hinson's opinion that Mr. Levesque was "definitely impaired" by a stimulant was proper. This is contrary to well-settled law; namely, this Court's own ruling in *State v. Quaale*.

In *State v. Quaale*, a DUI case, the arresting officer testified that he had "no doubt that [the defendant] was impaired" based on the HGN test alone. 182 Wash.2d 191, 340 P.3d 213 (2014). This Court found that, under *Baity*, this opinion testimony was improper because (1) it cast an "aura of scientific certainty" to the testimony when the HGN test only establishes whether a person has consumed alcohol, and (2) use of the word "impaired" implied a specific level of intoxication. *Id.* at 198-99. Because the officer's testimony was inadmissible under *Baity*, the Court found that the opinion testimony was not "otherwise admissible" under ER 704. *Id.* at 197.

Further, the Court in *Quaale* found that the officer's opinion was "an improper opinion on guilt by inference because the trooper's opinion went to the core issue and the only disputed element: whether [the defendant] drove while under the influence." *Id.* at 200. The Court found that the word "impaired" parroted the legal standard for DUI because the word impaired means to "diminish in quantity, value, excellence or strength," which was comparable to the jury instructions defining under

the influence as the "ability to drive ... lessened in any appreciable degree." *Id.* at 200. The Court held:

"Because the trooper's inadmissible testimony went to the ultimate factual issue—the core issue of Quaale's impairment to drive—the testimony amounted to an improper opinion on guilt." *Id.* at 200.

The Court went on the distinguish *Quaale* from *Heatley* because "[u]nlike the officer in *Heatley*, Trooper Stone based his opinion on expert and not lay testimony." *Id.* at 201. Similarly, here, Officer Hinson's testimony was not "otherwise admissible" under ER 704 because he was not qualified to give such expert opinion under ER 702 and *Baity*. The opinion that Officer Hinson gave—that Mr. Levesque was "definitely impaired" by stimulants—parroted the legal standard and was an improper opinion on guilt for the same reasons that the officer's "no doubt he was impaired" language was reversible error in *Quaale*.

The City argues that the Court of Appeals' ruling conflicts with *Heatley* because in *Heatley* the Court found that it was proper for an officer to testify that the defendant was "obviously intoxicated" by alcohol. Petition for Review at 19-20. The City again ignores the primary distinguishing factor—that the officer's opinion in *Heatley* was proper lay opinion on alcohol intoxication and therefore was "otherwise admissible" under ER 704. As the Court of Appeals noted, this distinction was

determinative in *Quaale* and similarly controls the outcome in Mr. Levesque's case.

3. The Court of Appeals properly applied ER 103(a) and correctly concluded that Mr. Levesque preserved his arguments for appeal by asking the court for pretrial rulings on the relevant issues and then subsequently objecting to the improper opinion testimony during trial.

The City asserts that Mr. Levesque did not preserve his objections to Officer Hinson's testimony and that he "simply gambled on a verdict" by not objecting. Petition for Review at 12. This assertion was properly rejected by the Court of Appeals and is belied by the record below.

As the City appears to concede, Mr. Levesque raised timely and specific pretrial motions on the relevant issues. Indeed, during motions *in limine*, Mr. Levesque specifically requested that the court prohibit any officers from testifying as experts, to which the City did not object and the court granted. RP 10/18/16 at 42. Mr. Levesque also asked the court to prohibit opinion testimony that went to the ultimate issue of guilt, namely, that Mr. Levesque was "impaired." *Id.* at 34.

Mr. Levesque then re-raised these objections during trial and gave the trial court adequate opportunity to address his objections and make an

⁷ Because the trial court denied Mr. Levesque's motion *in limine* to prohibit opinion testimony that Mr. Levesque was "impaired," Mr. Levesque had a standing objection that preserved that issue for appeal. *A.C. ex rel. Cooper v. Bellingham School Dist.*, 125 Wn. App. 511, 525, 105 P.3d 400 (2004).

evidentiary ruling. Under ER 103(a)(1), when an error is raised based on admitting evidence, the adverse party must make "a timely objection or motion to strike . . . , [and] stat[e] the specific ground of objection, if the specific ground was not apparent from the context." As the Court of Appeals noted, the purpose of the objection requirement of ER 103 is to "give[] the trial judge an opportunity to address an issue before it becomes an error on appeal." *Levesque* at 6 (citing *Wilcox v. Basehore*, 187 Wn.2d 772, 788, 389 P.3d 531 (2017)).

The Court of Appeals properly applied ER 103 and concluded that Mr. Levesque's objection to Officer Hinson's testimony was both timely and specific under the rule, as it gave the trial court adequate opportunity to address the issue. Mr. Levesque's objection were specific, as he argued that: (1) Officer Hinson's testimony violated motions *in limine*, (2) Officer Hinson's testimony that Mr. Levesque was impaired by stimulants was improper because there was insufficient foundation, and (3) Officer Hinson's improper testimony went "to the ultimate issue" in the case-impairment. *Levesque* at 7. The trial court had no difficulty discerning the specific basis of the objection or making a full and considered ruling. As to Officer Hinson's opinion testimony, the trial court ruled that Officer Hinson's training, experience and observations provided adequate foundation for such testimony. RP 10/19/16 at 106-108. As to whether it

was an improper opinion on guilt, the trial court reiterated its prior ruling and held that the testimony did not go to the ultimate issue in the case because Officer Hinson said "impaired" and not "under the influence." *Id*.

Although not contemporaneous, Mr. Levesque's objection was timely. As the Court of Appeals noted, the purpose of the objection requirements is to ensure that the trial court is able to rule on the issue and provide a curative instruction if necessary. *Wilcox*, 187 Wn.2d at 788. As described above, the trial court here had ample opportunity to assess and respond to each of Mr. Levesque's specific objections to Officer Hinson's testimony. Mr. Levesque raised his objection during the afternoon recess following Officer Hinson's testimony, and well before the close of evidence.⁸

ER 103 prevents a defendant from "sit[ting] on his rights, bet[ting] on the verdict, and then, if the verdict is adverse, gain[ing] a retrial by asserting his rights for the first time on appeal." *State v. Burns*, 193 Wash. 2d 190, 209, 438 P.3d 1183 (2019). As the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, there is no evidence in the record to suggest that Mr. Levesque "bet on the verdict" here. His objections were timely, specific and preserved for appeal under ER 103(a).

4. This case does not present an issue of substantial public interest, as the Court of Appeals decision in no way prevents or hinders prosecution of DUI offenders in Washington State.

18

⁸ Five additional witnesses testified following Mr. Levesque's objection and motion for mistrial.

The City overstates both the breadth of the *Levesque* decision and its potential impact on DUI prosecutions. The City argues that conviction rates will fall because "it is not possible to only have DREs investigate and testify in every drug-DUI case." Petition for Review at 8.

Nothing in the *Levesque* decision requires, or even suggests, that a DRE officer must investigate or testify in every drug-DUI case. As discussed above, the *Levesque* decision leaves open a variety of methods by which the City may prosecute drug-DUI cases. The Court of Appeals explicitly recognized that non-DRE officers might nonetheless possess the requisite training and experience under ER 702 to offer an expert opinion about the particular category of drugs a person is impaired by. The Court of Appeals merely held that Officer Hinson, with his extremely limited DUI experience, was not qualified to do so in this case.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, there are a variety of other, non-law enforcement witnesses who may also properly offer such an opinion. *Levesque* at 14-15. Indeed, in this case, the State forensic toxicologist who tested Mr. Levesque's blood was properly qualified as an expert and

9 "For example, 'pharmacologists, optometrists, and forensic specialists' may be qualified to testify as to what specific drug impairment looks like or if, in their opinion, behavior was consistent with consumption of a particular category

of drug."

19

gave extensive testimony about the effects of methamphetamines on the human body. Further, the toxicologist described testifying in court as one of his primary job duties, and stated that he had testified in approximately 70 DUI trials. RP 10/20/16 at 8, 18, 30. Although the City chose not to do so here, nothing would prevent a prosecutor from asking the toxicologist to review the facts of the case and offer an opinion as to whether the defendant's behavior was consistent with a particular category of drugs. ¹⁰

Finally, as the Court of Appeals explicitly noted, a non-DRE officer may still properly testify to their opinion that a DUI defendant was impaired by drugs generally. *Levesque* at 14.

The City asserts that the *Levesque* decision will prevent the "presentation of reliable evidence." To the contrary, the *Levesque* holding merely held Officer Hinson's testimony to the existing standards of scientific reliability that were outlined in *Baity* and reaffirmed in *Quaale*.

G. CONCLUSION

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